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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
 

Operational Overview 

 

Galveston 307 Project (WI 11.25%, NRI 9.0%) 
 
In July 2011, the Company completed a re-structure of its joint venture with Kilgore Oil and Gas Ltd concerning the Galveston-307 
Block on offshore Texas waters. Odin had previously executed a farm-in with Kilgore Oil and Gas Ltd (Kilgore) to participate in the 
drilling of the Sandpiper, Snipe and Egret prospects in the Galveston 307 Block. The three wells were all discoveries and were 
subsequently completed. The re-structure involved the transfer of Kilgore’s 100% owned subsidiary, Kilgore Exploration Inc (“KEI”) 
which holds the interests in the Galveston 307 Block to Odin in return for the termination of the joint venture thereby doubling Odin’s 
interest in the project. 
 
For the twelve month period daily production averaged 1,064 Mcfe/d (KEI share 93 Mcfe/d), with total production for the year being 
388,214 Mcfe (KEI share 33,935 Mcfe). KEI’s weighted average NRI for the project during the year was 8.74%. During the year Egret 
and Sandpiper were in production, while Snipe was largely shut in due to low pressure, with production only sufficient to hold the lease. 
The production profile continued the expected and natural decline. In February 2014 a compressor was installed on the platform, a 
procedure which was part of the original production plan when the wells were drilled, since wellhead pressure would eventually fall 
below that of the pipeline 
 
 
 

Corporate Overview 
 
In July 2013 the Company entered into an MOU to acquire the exclusive technology rights for Australia to a non-recyclable plastics to 
diesel conversion technology. This transaction did not proceed beyond the due diligence stage. 
 
In November 2013 the Company executed an Option Agreement to earn an 80% interest in two oil licences in Russia. At the date of 
this report the transaction has not progressed further. 
 
The Company’s subsidiary, Kilgore Exploration Inc, appealed in the September 2013 quarter against a judgement rendered against it 
in March 2013 in a lawsuit with Apache Corporation. At the date of this report the outcome of this appeal is unknown. The Company 
has brought all costs to account in respect of this matter; but if ultimately successful in its appeal (and any subsequent appeal to the 
Texas Supreme Court) would result in a payment to the Company of around USD700,000 and the write back of all liabilities currently 
recorded in the records.  

 
Operating Results for the Year- Odin Energy 
 
The net operating loss of the Group for the financial year ending 30 June 2014 after income tax amounted to $1,693,280 (2013: 
$1,024,872). 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

COMPLIANCE WITH ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
APPROACH TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Odin Energy Ltd (Odin), 
support and adhere to the principles of sound corporate governance. The Board recognises the recommendations of the Australian 
Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council, and considers that the Company is in compliance with those guidelines, to the 
extent possible, which are of importance to the commercial operation of a junior resource company.   
 
During the financial period ended, shareholders continued to receive the benefit of an efficient and cost – effective corporate 
governance policy for the Company. 
 
The board of directors of Odin Energy Ltd is responsible for the Corporate Governance of the Company. The board guides and 
monitors the business and the affairs of the Company on behalf of the shareholders, by whom they were elected and to whom they are 
responsible. 
 
Upon listing, the Company established a set of Corporate Governance policies and procedures. These were based on the Australia 
Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council’s (“Council”) “Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations”. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s recommendations, the Company has followed the guidelines during this period. Where a 
recommendation is not followed, that fact must be disclosed, together with the reason for the departure.  
 
For further information on Corporate Governance policies adopted by the Company, refer to our website: www.odinenergy.com.au  

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to 
the Board of Odin Energy Limited 
and those delegated to senior 
executives and disclose those 
functions. 

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate 
governance of the Company.  

The Board has adopted a Board Charter that formalises its 
roles and responsibilities and defines the matters that are 
reserved for the Board and specific matters that are 
delegated to management.  A summary of those matters is 
set out in this Corporate Governance Statement. 

The Board has adopted a Delegations of Authority that sets 
limits of authority for senior executives. 

On appointment of a Director, the Company issues a letter 
of appointment setting out the terms and conditions of 
appointment to the Board. 

Complies. 

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating 
the performance of senior 
executives. 

Senior executives prepare strategic objectives that are 
reviewed and signed off by the Board. These objectives 
must then be met by senior executives as part of their key 
performance targets. The Chairman then reviews the 
performance of the senior executives against those 
objectives. The Board reviews the Chairman’s compliance 
against his and the Company’s objectives. These reviews 
occur annually. 

Complies. 

1.3 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
1. 

A copy of the Board Charter is available on the Company’s 
website and is summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

The performance evaluation process for senior executives is 
summarised in this Corporate Governance Statement. 

The Board conducted a performance evaluation for senior 
executives in the financial year in accordance with the 
process summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

Complies. 

http://www.odinenergy.com.au/
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Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 

2.1 A majority of the Board should be 
independent directors. 

The Company has one independent Director, Mr Roland 
Berzins. 

 Mr Alex Bajada and Mr Anthony Short are not considered 
independent by virtue of their positions as Executive 
Chairman and Executive Director respectively and their 
shareholdings. 

Due to the experience and historical conduct of the 
Directors, the Company believes that the current structure of 
the board complies with the spirit and intent of 
Recommendation 2.1 

The Directors are satisfied that the composition and 
structure of the Board is appropriate for the size of the 
Company and the nature of its operations.  The membership 
of the Board, its activities and composition is subject to 
periodic review. 

Does not comply. 

 

2.2 The Chair should be an 
independent director. 

The Chairman of the Board, Mr Alex Bajada, is not an 
independent Director for the reasons set out in 2.1 above. 

The role of the Chairman is to provide leadership to the 
board and to facilitate the efficient organisation and conduct 
of the board’s functioning, which is performed by Mr Bajada. 

Does not comply. 

2.3 The roles of Chair and Chief 
Executive Officer should not be 
exercised by the same individual. 

Mr Alex Bajada is the Chairman and Anthony Short the 
Chief Executive Officer. 

Complies. 

2.4 The Board should establish a 
nomination committee. 

The Company has not established a separate Nomination 
Committee.  Given the Company’s current size and nature, 
the Board considers that the current board is a cost effective 
and practical method of directing and managing the 
Company.  Accordingly, the duties of the Nomination 
Committee, as set out in the Nomination Committee Charter 
on the Company’s website, are currently undertaken by the 
full Board. Each year the Board will review the necessity or 
ability to establish a separate Nomination Committee and, if 
appropriate, delegate certain responsibilities to such 
Committee.  

The Board has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter 
which it follows when considering matters that would usually 
be considered by a nomination committee. 

Does not comply. 

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating 
the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual 
directors. 

The Board has established a Performance Evaluation 
Policy, which is available on the Company’s website.  The 
Performance Evaluation Policy covers the Board, its 
Committees, if any, and its individual Directors. 

The Board as a whole will discuss and analyse its own 
performance on an annual basis including suggestions for 
change or improvement from individual Board members and 
senior management to examine ways to perform its duties 
more effectively. 

The Board’s induction program provides incoming Directors 
with information that will enable them to carry out their 
duties in the best interests of the Company.  This includes 
supporting ongoing education of Directors for the benefit of 

Complies. 
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the Company. 

2.6 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
2. 

The skills, experience and expertise of by each Director are 
set out in the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. 

The Company has one independent Directors.  A Director is 
considered independent when he substantially satisfies the 
test for independence as set out in the ASX Corporate 
Governance Recommendations. Refer to 2.1 above. 

Members of the Board are able to take independent 
professional advice at the expense of the Company, subject 
to prior consultation with the Chairman. 

Alex Bajada, Executive Chairman, was appointed to the 
Board on 30 March 2007. 

Anthony Short, Chief Executive Officer, was re-appointed to 
the Board on 2 August 2011. 

Roland Berzins, Non-Executive Director, was appointed to 
the Board on 23 February 2009. 

The Board has not established a Nomination Committee for 
the reasons set out in 2.4 above. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix of skills and 
experience on the Board in light of the Company’s principal 
activities and direction, and has considered diversity in 
succession planning.  The Board considers the current mix 
of skills and experience of members of the Board and its 
senior management is sufficient to meet the requirements of 
the Company. 

Complies. 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and 
disclose the code or a summary of 
the code as to: 

 the practices necessary to 
maintain confidence in the 
Company’s integrity; 

 the practices necessary to take 
into account the Company’s 
legal obligations and the 
reasonable expectations of its 
stakeholders; 

 the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices. 

The Board has adopted a code of conduct which provides a 
framework for decisions and actions in relation to ethical 
conduct of the Company’s Directors, officers and 
employees. 

A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on the 
Company’s website. 

The Code of Conduct sets out the principles covering 
appropriate conduct in a variety of contexts and outlines the 
minimum standard of behaviour expected from management 
and employees. The Company encourages the reporting of 
matters that may cause financial and/or non-financial loss to 
the Company, or may damage the Company’s reputation. All 
employees are responsible for reporting circumstances that 
may involve a breach of the Code of Conduct.  

The Company also has adopted a Securities Trading Policy 
that establishes a procedure for dealings in the Company’s 
securities by Directors, senior executives, employees, and 
related parties, and also dealings in securities of other 
entities with whom the Company may have business 
dealings. The Securities Trading Policy is further described 
at the end of this Corporate Governance Statement under 
the section titled ‘Dealing in Company Securities’. A copy of 
Securities Trading Policy is available in the Corporate 
Governance section of the Company’s website. 

Complies. 
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3.2 Establish a policy concerning 
diversity and disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy.  The policy 
should include requirements for the 
Board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and for the Board to assess 
annually both the objectives and 
progress in achieving them. 

The Board has established a Diversity Policy and is 
committed to workplace diversity, with a particular focus on 
supporting the representation of women at the senior level in 
the Company and on the Board. 

A copy of the Diversity Policy is available on the Company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

3.3 Disclose in each annual report the 
measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by 
the Board in accordance with the 
diversity policy and progress 
towards achieving them. 

The Company is at a stage of its development that the 
application of measurable objectives in relation to gender 
diversity, at the various levels of the Company’s business, 
are not considered to be appropriate nor practical. The 
Chairman monitors the scope and currency of the Diversity 
Policy and the Company is responsible for implementing, 
monitoring and reporting on the measurable objectives. 
Measurable objectives, as set by the Board will be included 
in the annual key performance indicators for the CEO and/or 
Managing Director, and senior executives. In addition, the 
Board will review progress against the Objectives as a key 
performance indicator in its annual performance 
assessment. 

Does not Comply. 

3.4 Disclose in each annual report the 
proportion of women employees in 
the whole organisation, women in 
senior executive positions and 
women on the Board. 

The Company has included the proportion of women 
employees in the whole organisation, women in senior 
executive positions and women on the Board at the end of 
this Corporate Governance Statement, under the section 
‘Diversity’. 

Complies. 

3.5 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
3. 

The Company has provided explanations of departures from 
Recommendations in relation to Principle 3 and has noted 
that copies of the Code of Conduct, Securities Trading 
Policy and the Diversity Policy are available on the 
Company’s website. 

Complies. 

 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

4.1 The Board should establish an 
audit committee. 

The Board believes the Company is not currently of a 
sufficient size, nor are its financial affairs of such complexity 
to justify the formation of an audit committee. The full Board 
undertakes the functions normally associated with an audit 
committee. Each year the Board will review the necessity or 
ability to establish a separate Audit and Risk Committee 
and, if appropriate, delegate certain responsibilities to such 
Committee. 

The Board has adopted an Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter which it follows when considering matters that would 
usually be considered by an audit committee. 

Does not comply. 

4.2 The audit committee should be 
structured so that it consists of only 
non-executive directors, a majority 
of independent directors, is chaired 
by an independent chair who is not 
chair of the Board and has at least 
3 members. 

The Company has not established a separate Audit and 
Risk Committee for the reasons set out above.  

Does not comply. 

4.3 The audit committee should have a 
formal charter. 

The Board has adopted a separate Audit and Risk 
Committee charter to assist it in performing the relevant 

Complies. 
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functions of an audit and risk committee.  The Charter sets 
out the roles and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and contains information on the procedures for 
the selection, appointment and rotation of the external 
auditor. A copy of the Audit and Risk Committee Charter is 
available on the Company’s website. 

 

 

 

 

4.4 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
4. 

The Company has not established a separate Audit and 
Risk Committee for the reasons outlined above.  Therefore, 
it has not disclosed the names and qualifications of the 
committee but has disclosed that the functions normally 
carried out by the committee are performed by the full 
Board. 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter, which contains 
procedures for the selection and appointment of the external 
auditor, and for the rotation of external audit engagement 
partners, is available on the Company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1 Establish written policies designed 
to ensure compliance with ASX 
Listing Rules disclosure 
requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive 
level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies. 

The Company has established a Continuous Disclosure 
Policy, to ensure that it complies with the continuous 
disclosure regime under the ASX Listing Rules and the 
Corporations Act 2001. Under the terms of the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy, the Chairman, Managing Director and 
Company Secretary are primarily responsible for making 
decisions about what information will be disclosed to the 
ASX. Approval is sought from the Board on all significant 
matters.  Employees must inform the Managing Director, 
Chairman or Company Secretary of any potentially material 
price or value sensitive information as soon as they become 
aware of it. 

The Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on the 
Company’s website. 

Complies. 

5.2 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
5. 

The Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy is available 
on its website. 

Complies. 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 

6.1 Design a communications policy 
for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders 
and encouraging their participation 
at general meetings and disclose 
that policy or a summary of that 
policy. 

The Company has designed a Shareholder Communications 
Policy for promoting effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their participation at general 
meetings.  The Company uses its website, quarterly, interim 
and annual reports, market announcements and media 
disclosures to communicate with its shareholders.  
Additionally, the Company’s auditor representative attends 
the annual general meetings of the Company to answer any 
questions raised by shareholders about the conduct of the 
audit and preparation and content of the auditor’s report. 

Complies. 

6.2 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
6. 

The Company’s Shareholder Communications Policy is 
available on its website. 

Complies. 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 

7.1 Establish policies for the oversight 
and management of material 

The Company has established policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks. The Board is 

Complies. 
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business risks and disclose a 
summary of those policies. 

responsible for overseeing risk management strategy and 
policies, internal compliance and internal control. 

The Risk Management Policy is available on the Company’s 
website and is summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement under the section titled ‘Risk’. 

 

7.2 The Board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk management 
and internal control system to 
manage the Company’s material 
business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The Board 
should disclose that management 
has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
management of its material 
business risks. 

The Company has identified key risks within the business. In 
the ordinary course of business, management monitors and 
manages those risks. 

The responsibility for undertaking and assessing risk 
management and internal control effectiveness is delegated 
to management. Management is required to assess risk 
management and associated internal compliance and 
control procedures and report back to the Board quarterly. 

Key operational and financial risks are presented to and 
reviewed by the Board at each Board meeting. 

 

Complies. 

 

 

7.3 The Board should disclose whether 
it has received assurance from the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer that the 
declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act is founded on a 
sound system of risk management 
and internal control and that the 
system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects 
in relation to the financial reporting 
risks. 

The Board has received a statement from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) 
that the declaration provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control and that the 
system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects in relation to the financial reporting risks. 

Complies. 

7.4 Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
7. 

Management has reported to the Board as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material 
business risks. 

The Company has received a statement of assurance from 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (or 
equivalent) 

The Risk Management Policy is available on the Company’s 
web site and is summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement under the section titled ‘Risk’.. 

Complies. 

 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

8.1 The Board should establish a 
remuneration committee. 

The Board has not established a separate Remuneration 
Committee.  Given the Company’s current size and nature, 
the Board considers that the current board is a cost effective 
and practical method of directing and managing the 
Company.  Accordingly, the duties of the Remuneration 
Committee are currently undertaken by the full Board. Each 
year the Board will review the necessity or ability to 
establish a separate Remuneration Committee and, if 
appropriate, delegate certain responsibilities to such 
Committee. 

The Board has adopted a Remuneration Committee Charter 
which it follows when considering matters that would usually 

Does not comply. 
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be considered by a remuneration committee. 

8.2 The remuneration committee 
should be structured so that it 
consists of a majority of 
independent Directors, is chaired 
by an independent chair and has at 
least three members. 

Refer to 8.1 above. 

 

Does not comply. 

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of 
non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior 
executives. 

The Company has separate policies relating to the 
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors and that of 
Executive Directors and senior executives.  This information 
is detailed in the Remuneration Report, which forms part of 
the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. 

Complies. 

8.4  Provide the information indicated in 
the Guide to reporting on Principle 
8. 

The Company has not established a Remuneration 
Committee for the reasons outlined above. 

The Company does not have any schemes for retirement 
benefits other than superannuation for Non-Executive 
Directors. 

Explanations for departures from Recommendations 8.1 and 
8.2 are set out above. 

A copy of the Remuneration Committee Charter, which is 
followed by the Board, is available on the Company’s 
website. 

The Securities Trading Policy, a copy of which is available 
on the Company’s website, prohibits the hedging of risk of 
fluctuation of the value of the Company’s securities. 

Complies. 

 

 
Odin Energy Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and to the date of 
signing the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. 
 
Various corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement. For further information on corporate governance policies 
adopted by Odin Energy Limited, refer to our website, www.odinenergy.com.au. 
 
The Role of the Board and Management 
In carrying out the responsibilities and powers set out in the Board Charter, the Board of Directors of the Company recognises: 

• its overriding responsibility to act honestly, fairly, diligently and in accordance with the law in serving the interests of its 
shareholders; and 

• it duties and responsibilities to its employees, customers and the community. 
 
In addition to matters it is expressly required by law to approve, the Board has the following specific responsibilities: 

• appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and/or Managing Director, other senior executives and the Company Secretary and 
the determination of their terms and conditions including remuneration and termination; 

http://www.odinenergy.com.au/
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• driving the strategic direction of the Company, ensuring appropriate resources are available to meet objectives and monitoring 
management’s performance; 

• reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and legal 
compliance; 

• approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management and significant acquisitions and 
divestitures; 

• approving and monitoring the budget and adequacy and integrity of financial and other reporting; 

• approving the annual, half-yearly and quarterly accounts; 

• approving significant changes to organisational structure; 

• approving the issue of any shares, options, equity instruments or other securities in the Company (subject to compliance with 
the ASX Listing Rules if applicable); 

• ensuring a high standard of corporate governance practice and regulatory compliance and promoting ethical and responsible 
decision making; 

• recommending to shareholders the appointment of the external auditor as and when their appointment or re-appointment is 
required to be approved by them (in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules if applicable); and 

• meeting with the external auditor, at their request, without management being present. 
 
The Board delegates responsibility for the day to day operations and administration of the Company to the Managing Director.  In 
addition to formal reporting structures, members of the Board are encouraged to have direct communications with management and 
other employees within the Company to facilitate the carrying out of their duties as Directors. 
 
Composition of the Board 
The Company’s Constitution governs the regulation of meetings and proceedings of the Board. 
 
The Board determines its size and composition, subject to the terms of the Constitution.  The Board does not believe that it should 
establish a limit on tenure other than stipulated in the Company’s Constitution. 
 
While tenure limits can help to ensure that there are fresh ideas and viewpoints available to the Board, they hold the disadvantage of 
losing the contribution of Directors who have been able to develop, over a period of time, increasing insight in the Company and its 
operations and, therefore, an increasing contribution to the Board as a whole. Where practical, it is intended that the Board should 
comprise a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors and comprise Directors with a broad range of skills, expertise and 
experience from a diverse range of backgrounds. Where practical, it is also intended that the Chair should be an independent Non-
Executive Director. The Board regularly reviews the independence of each Director in light of the interests disclosed to the Board. 
 
The Board only considers Directors to be independent where they are independent of management and free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and 
independent judgment. The Board has adopted a definition of independence based on that set out in Principle 2 of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Revised Principles and Recommendations. The Board reviews the independence of each Director in light of interests 
disclosed to the Board, including their participation in Board activities associated with related entities, from time to time. 
 
In accordance with the definition of independence above, none of the Directors of R Limited is considered to be independent: 
 
The appointment date of each Director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name  Position Appointment Date 

Alex Bajada Executive Director, Chairman Appointed 30 March 2007 

Anthony Short Executive Director, Managing Director 
and Chief Executive Officer 

Re-Appointed 2 August 2011 

Roland Berzins Non-Executive Director Appointed 23 February 2009 

 
Further details on each Director can be found in the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. 
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Committees of the Board 
Given the Company’s current size and nature, the Board considers that the current board is a cost effective and practical method of 
directing and managing the Company.  Accordingly, the duties of the committees below are currently undertaken by the full Board: 

• Audit and Risk Committee; 

• Remuneration Committee; and 

• Nomination Committee. 
Each year the Board will review the necessity or ability to establish separate committees and, if appropriate, delegate certain 
responsibilities to each such committee. 
 
 
 
Access to Advice 
The Board, Committees, if any, or individual Directors may seek independent external professional advice as considered necessary at 
the expense of the Company, subject to prior consultation with the Chairman.  A copy of such advice received is made available to all 
members of the Board. 
 
Dealings in Company Securities 
The Company’s Securities Trading Policy outlines when Key Management Personnel (the Company’s Directors and those employees 
directly reporting to the Managing Director) may deal in the Company’s securities and contains procedures to reduce the risk of insider 
trading. 
 
Key Management Personnel must not, except in exceptional circumstances, deal in the securities of the Company in the following 
periods: 
 
(i) from the day after the Company’s half-year end, being 1 January, to the close of trading on the business day after the half-year 

report is released and the day of, and 1 trading day after the release of the Appendix 5B Report to the ASX; 
(ii) 1 April and 1 trading day after release of the Appendix 5B Report to the ASX; 
(iii) from the day after the Company’s financial year end, being 1 July, to the close of trading on the business day after the annual 

report is released and the day of, and 1 trading day after the release of the Appendix 5B Report to the ASX; 
(iv) 1 October and 1 trading day after release of the Appendix 5B Report to the ASX. 
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the Company notifies the ASX of any transactions conducted by Directors in the securities of the 
Company within five business days of the transaction taking place. 
 
The Securities Trading Policy prohibits Key Management Personnel from entering into transactions which would have the effect of 
hedging or transferring the risk of any fluctuation in the value of the Company’s securities. 
 
The Securities Trading Policy has been issued to ASX and a copy is available on the Company’s website 
 
Risk 
The responsibility of overseeing risk usually falls within the charter of the Audit and Risk Committee (a copy of which is available on the 
Company’s website).  However, there is currently no separate Audit and Risk Committee.  Given the Company’s current size and 
nature, the Board considers that the current board is a cost effective and practical method of directing and managing the Company.  
Accordingly, the duties of the Audit and Risk Committee, including overseeing risk management, are undertaken by the full Board. 
 
The Company has established a Risk Management Policy for the oversight and management of material business risks (a copy of 
which is available on the Company’s website). 

The Company will: 

• oversee the Company's risk management systems, practices and procedures to ensure effective risk identification and 
management and compliance with internal guidelines and external requirements; 

• assist management to determine the key risks to the businesses and prioritise work to manage those risks; and 

• review reports by management on the efficiency and effectiveness of risk management and associated internal compliance and 
control procedures. 

The risk assessment is aimed at identifying the following: 

• a culture of risk control and the minimisation of risk throughout the Company, which is being done through natural or instinctive 
processes by employees of the Company; 
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• a culture of risk control that can easily identify risks as they arise and amend practices; 

• the installation of practices and procedures in all areas of the business that are designed to minimise an event or incident that 
could have a financial or other effect on the business and its day to day management; and 

• adoption of these practices and procedures to minimise many of the standard commercial risks, i.e. taking out the appropriate 
insurance policies, or ensuring compliance reporting is up to date. 

 

The Company's process of risk management and internal compliance and control includes: 

• identifying and measuring risks that might impact upon the achievement of the Company's goals and objectives, and 
monitoring the environment for emerging factors and trends that affect these risks; 

• formulating risk management strategies to manage identified risks, and designing and implementing appropriate risk 
management policies and internal controls; and 

• monitoring the performance of, and improving the effectiveness of, risk management systems and internal compliance and 
controls, including regular assessment of the effectiveness of risk management and internal compliance and control. 

 
CEO and CFO certification 
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) have given a written declaration to the Board required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 that in their view: 

• the financial statements of the Company present a true and fair view, in all material aspects, of the Company’s financial 
position and operating results and are in accordance with accounting standards; 

• the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control; and 

• the Company's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material respects in 
relation the financial reporting risks. 

 
Performance 
The performance of the Board and key Executives is reviewed regularly using both measurable and qualitative indicators. 
 
On an annual basis, Directors will provide verbal feedback in relation to the performance of the Board and its Committees, if any, 
against a set of agreed criteria. 

 Feedback will be collected by the Chair of the Board, or an external facilitator, and discussed by the Board, with consideration 
being given as to whether any steps should be taken to improve performance of the Board; 

 The Chief Executive Officer will also provide feedback from senior management in connection with any issues that may be 
relevant in the context of Board performance review; and 

 Where appropriate to facilitate the review process, assistance may be obtained from third party advisers. 
 
A review of the performance of the Board was conducted in accordance with the process disclosed. 
 
Remuneration 
It is the Company's objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive team by 
remunerating Directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment market conditions. To assist 
in achieving this objective, the Board, in assuming the responsibilities of assessing remuneration to employees, links the nature and 
amount of Executive Directors' and officers' remuneration to the Company's financial and operational performance. The expected 
outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
 retention and motivation of key executives; 
 attraction of high quality management to the Company; and 
 performance incentives that allow executives to share in the success of Odin Energy Limited.  
 
For a more comprehensive explanation of the Company's remuneration framework and the remuneration received by Directors and key 
Executives in the current period, please refer to the Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors' Report in this Annual 
Report. 
 
There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits to Non-Executive (or Executive) Directors. 
The duties of the Remuneration Committee are currently undertaken by the full Board, which is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves and the Chief Executive Officer and Executive team. 
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Diversity 
The Company and all its related bodies corporate are committed to workplace diversity.  The Company recognises the benefits arising 
from employee and Board diversity, including a broader pool of high quality employees, improving employee retention, accessing 
different perspectives and ideas and benefitting from all available talent. 
 
Diversity includes, but is not limited to gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background. 
 
The Diversity Policy is available on the Company’s website. 
 
 
As stated earlier, the Company is at a stage of its development that the application of measurable objectives in relation to gender 
diversity, at the various levels of the Company’s business, are not considered to be appropriate nor practical. 
 
The participation of women in the Company and consolidated entity at 30 June 2014 was as follows: 

 Women employees in the consolidated entity 0% 

 Women in senior management positions 0% 

 Women on the board 0% 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Your Directors present their report for Odin Energy Ltd (or ‘’the Company’’) and its controlled entities (or ‘’the Group’’) for the year 
ended 30 June 2014. 
 

a) Directors 

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office at any time during the financial year and until the date of this report are 
detailed below. 
 
A. Bajada     
R. Berzins  
A. Short  
 

b) Principal activities 

Odin Energy Ltd was incorporated on 20 March 2007 and controls three whollyowned operating subsidiaries, Glory Run Pty Ltd which 
was incorporated on 25 September 2007, Jet Strike Pty Ltd which was acquired on 31 May 2011 and Kilgore Exploration Inc which was 
acquired on 31 May 2011. The principal activity of the Group and Company during the financial year was the production of and 
exploration for oil and gas predominantly in Australia and US. 
 
There were no changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the year. 
 

c) Operating results 

The net operating loss of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2014 before income tax amounted to $1,693,280 (2013: loss 
$1,024,872). 
 

d) Dividends paid or recommended 

No dividend was paid or declared during the period and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend. 
 

e) Review of operations 

A detailed review of the Group’s activities is contained in the Review of Operations section of the Annual Report. 
 

f) Significant changes in the state of affairs 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs during the year. 
 

g) Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a 
material or unusual nature, likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect significantly the operations or the state of affairs of the group 
in future financial years, other than the August announcements in respect of the binding heads of agreement with TV2U Pty Ltd 
(“TV2U”), and the appointment of SilikonRok Pty Ltd as its technical advisor in regard to this potential transaction. TV2U’s technologies 
enable telecommunication companies and network operators to increase profitability by generating revenue through the delivery of live 
and video on demand content to multiple consumer devices over multiple networks, on a global scale. 
 

h) Likely Developments 

Further information on operations and likely developments are supplied in the Review of Operations. 
 

i) Environmental Regulations 

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental regulations under the Federal and State Laws of United States of 
America. The majority of the Company’s activities involve low level disturbance associated with its production facilities and exploration 
drilling programs. As at the date of this report the group complies fully with all such regulations.  
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The Group is subject to the reporting requirements of both the Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 and the National Greenhouse 
and Energy Reporting Act 2007. 
 
The Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 requires the Group to assess its energy usage, including the identification, investigation 
and evaluation of energy saving opportunities, and to report publicly on the assessments undertaken, including what action the Group 
intends to take as a result.  
 
The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 require the Group to report its annual greenhouse gas emissions and 
energy use. The Group is in an early stage of production so no measurements have been recorded. The Group intends to implement 
system and process for the collection and calculation of the data required in financial year 2014. 
 

j) Information on Directors and Secretary 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 
 
Mr Alex Bajada B.Econ (UWA) – Executive Chairman 
  
Mr Bajada is Executive Director of Spartan Nominees Pty Ltd, corporate consultants.  He is a former stockbroker with many years’ 
experience in the corporate sector and has been involved in the management of public companies for many years fulfilling the roles of 
chairman and director. 
 
Other Current Directorships 
 
Executive Chairman of Excalibur Mining Corporation Limited (Appointed 30 November 2004) 
 
Other Directorships within the last three years 
 
AXG Mining Limited (appointed 13/02/2007 and resigned 19/12/2012). 
 
Mr Roland Berzins – Non-Executive Director – Company Secretary 
 
Mr. Berzins graduated from the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree majoring in accounting and 
finance. He has over 20 year experience in the mining industry and was previously Chief Accountant for 6 years at Kalgoorlie 
Consolidated Gold Mines Pty Ltd (“Kalgoorlie Super Pit”). Since 1996 Mr Berzins has been Company Secretary for a variety of ASX 
listed companies, and has also had experience in retail, merchant banking, venture capital and SME business advisory.   
 
Other Current Directorships 
 
No other current listed company directorships. 
 
Other Directorships within the last three years 
 
AXG Mining Ltd (Appointed 15 December 2005 and resigned 8 September 2014)) 
Palace Resources Ltd (appointed 20/05/2005 and resigned 03/09/2011) 
 
Anthony Short, BPE, B.Comm, Grad Dip Fin, MAICD 
Non- Executive Director, (appointed – 02 August 2011) 
 

Mr Short has more than 20 years’ experience in the administration and management of listed public companies.  He has extensive 
experience at board level in the management and formation of public companies in the areas of oil and gas exploration and production, 
and gold mining in both Australia and the US, where he has an extensive.  Mr Short has held the position of chairman, CFO and 
managing director in a number of listed public companies and has also acted as corporate advisor on a number of successful public 
listings.  
 
Current Directorship and date of appointment: 
 

No other current listed company directorships. 
 
Other Directorships within the last three years: 
 

Advance Energy Ltd (appointed 16/11/2004 and resigned 18 June 2014) 
Kilgore Oil and Gas Ltd (appointed – 26/09/2007 and resigned 01/08/2011). 
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Meetings of Directors 
 
The Company’s board meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2014 and the number of meeting attended by each director were: 
 

 Board meetings able to attend  Board meetings attended 
A. Bajada 7 7 
R. Berzins 7 7 
A. Short  7 7 
   

Securities held and controlled by Directors 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in shares, Convertible Preference Shares (“CPS”) and options of the 
Company were: 
 

 
Details of the conditions relating to conversion of the Convertible Preference Shares are included in note 15. 
 

k) Remuneration Report (Audited) 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and executives of Odin Energy Limited.  This report has been 
set out under the following main headings: 
 

A. Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration  

B. Service Agreements  

C. Details of Remuneration  

D. Additional Information  

The Board is responsible for the remuneration of the Company’s executives including share and benefit plans. This will result in the 
Company establishing appropriate remuneration levels and incentive policies for all executives. Establishment of a remuneration 
committee will be reviewed as the Company’s operations evolve.  Remuneration is not directly linked to performance as it is 
considered that all Directors have other material vested interests in the success of the business. 
 
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by S308 (3c) of the Corporations Act, 2001. 
 

A. Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration  

The Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and Executive 
Officers.  The Board will assess the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of such officers on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the 
retention of a high quality Board and executive team. 
 
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for the 
results delivered the Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices: 
 

 competitiveness and reasonableness 

 acceptability to shareholders 

 performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation 

 transparency 

 capital management 

The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at fair market rates for comparable companies for the relevant time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The Board determines payments to the non-executive Directors and reviews their remuneration 

Holder Ordinary shares Options Convertible Preference Shares (CPS) 
Alex Bajada 
Indirect 

 
14,193,334 

 
- 

 
1,750 

Roland Berzins - - - 
Anthony Short  
Indirect 

26,833,333 - 1,750 
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annually based on market practice, duties and accountability. The maximum amount of fees that can be paid to Directors is subject to 
approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to a fixed sum not exceeding the aggregate maximum of $300,000 per 
annum. Fees for non-executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the Group. However, to align director’s interests with 
shareholder interests the Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and may be issued with additional securities as 
deemed appropriate. 
 
The Board believes that the remuneration policy is appropriate given the stage of development of the Company and the activities which 
it undertakes and is appropriate for aligning director and executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives.  The Board will 
look to develop new practices which are appropriate to the Company’s size and stage of development. 
 
Executive Officers are those directly accountable for the operational management and strategic direction of the Company and the 
consolidated entity. 
 
All contracts with Directors and executives may be terminated by either party with three months notice. 
 
Fixed remuneration 
 
Fixed remuneration consists of a base remuneration package, which includes Directors’ fees (in the case of Directors), salaries, 
consulting fees and employer contributions to superannuation funds if applicable. 
 
Fixed remuneration levels for Directors and executive officers will be reviewed annually by the Board through a process that considers 
the employee’s personal development, achievement of key performance objectives for the year, industry benchmarks wherever 
possible and CPI data.   
 
Appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) will be developed by the Board for each director and executive officer each year, and 
reflect an assessment of how that employee can fulfil their particular responsibilities in a way that best contributes to Company 
performance and shareholder wealth in that year. 
 
Performance-linked remuneration 
 
Bonuses to Directors and executives are paid based upon unspecified performance criteria as determined by the Board from time to 
time. No bonuses or any other form of performance remuneration were paid in the current year. 
 

B. Service Agreements  

Remuneration, consulting and other terms of employment for the key management personnel are determined by the Board and were 
not formalised by way of a Service Agreement but by a Board Resolution in the current financial year.  Two of the current Directors 
have fully paid ordinary shares and convertible preference shares in the Company which gives them considerable incentive to see the 
Company perform well. Other current provisions are set out below or can be found in the Company’s June 2007 prospectus. 
 
The Directors and key management personnel during the year included: 
 
Directors 
Mr A Bajada, Chairman 
 
Consulting fees (which includes Directors fees), for the year ended 30 June 2014 of $120,000 to be reviewed annually by the Board 
with no termination date. A termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal to three 
month’s consulting will be paid. 
 
Mr A Short, Director  
 
Consulting fees (which includes Directors fees and company secretary fees) for the year ended 30 June 2014 of $120,000 to be 
reviewed annually by the Board with no termination date. A termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for 
gross misconduct, equal to three month’s consulting will be paid. 
 
Mr R Berzins, Director and Company Secretary  
 
Consulting fees (which includes Directors fees and company secretary fees) for the year ended 30 June 2014 of $20,000 to be 
reviewed annually by the Board with no termination date. A termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for 
gross misconduct, equal to three month’s consulting will be paid. 
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C. Details of Remuneration  

The key management personnel of Odin Energy Limited during the year ended 30 June 2014 includes all Directors and executives 
mentioned above. 
 
Remuneration packages can contain the following key elements: 

 primary benefits – salary/fees and bonuses; 

 post-employment benefits – including superannuation and services provided after termination; 

 equity – share options and other equity securities; and 

 other benefits. 

Nature and amount of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
   

Short-term employee 
benefits 

Post -
employment    
benefits 

Equity Performance Related 

  Salary, 
consulting fees 
$ 

Bonus 
$ 

Superannuation, 
Services after 
termination 
$ 

Preference share 
based payments 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 
related % 

Executive 
Directors 
 

       

A Bajada 2014 
2013 

120,000 
150,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

120,000 
150,000 

- 
- 

Non-executive 
Directors 
 

       

R Berzins 2014 20,000 - - - 20,000 - 
2013 20,000 - - - 20,000 - 

A Short 2014 
2013 

120,000 
92,500 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

120,000 
92,500 

- 
- 

Total 
compensation 

2014           260,000 - - - 260,000 - 
2013 262,500 - - - 262,500 - 

No cash bonuses were paid for the year. 

 

D. Additional Information  

 (b)       Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel. 
 
Ordinary Shares 

Holder  Held at beginning 
of period 

Acquired Sold Converted 
CPS 

Balance at end 
of period 

Alex Bajada 2014 
2013 

14,913,334 
14,913,334 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

14,193,334 
14,193,334 

Roland Berzins 2014 
2013 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Anthony Short  2014 
2013 

26,833,333 
26,833,333 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

26,833,333 
26,833,333 
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Converting Performance shares (CPS) 
Holder  Held at beginning 

of period 
Acquired Sold Converted 

CPS 
Balance at end 

of period 

Alex Bajada 2014 
2013 

1,750 
1,750 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

1,750 
1,750 

Roland Berzins 2014 
2013 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Anthony Short 2014 
2013 

1,750 
1,750 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

1,750 
1,750 

         
Options 

Holder  Held at beginning 
of period 

Acquired Expired Converted 
CPS 

Balance at end 
of period 

Alex Bajada 2014 
2013 

- 
2,687,500 

- 
- 

- 
(2,687,500) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Roland Berzins 2014 
2013 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Anthony Short 2014 
2013 

- 
3,687,500 

- 
- 

- 
(3,687,500) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

 
 
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration and Company performance. 
 
In considering the Company’s performance and its effect on shareholder wealth, the Board have regard to a broad range of factors, 
some of which are financial and others of which relate to the progress on the Company’s projects, results and progress of exploration 
and development activities, joint venture agreements etc.  The Board also gives consideration to the Company’s result and cash 
consumption for the year.  It does not utilise earnings per share as a performance measure or contemplate payment of any dividends 
in the short to medium term given that all efforts are currently being expended to build the business and establish self-sustaining 
revenue streams. 
 
Use of remuneration consultants 
 
In the year to 30 June 2014, the Company has not employed a remuneration consultant. 
 
Voting and comments made at the company’s 2013 Annual General Meeting 
 
The Remuneration Report was approved at the 2013 annual general meeting of the company and it did not receive a strike notice.   
 
END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT 
 

l) Share-based Compensation  

Options 
 
No options were granted during the year.  
 
Shares under option 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Odin Energy Ltd under option at the date of this report are as follow: 
 
 
Convertible Preference Shares 
 
There was no convertible performance shares were converted into ordinary shares during the year (2013: Nil). 
 

m) Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 

During the financial period, the Company maintained an insurance policy which indemnifies the Directors and Officers of Odin Energy 
Limited in respect of any liability incurred in connection with the performance of their duties as Directors or Officers of the Company. 
The Company’s insurers have prohibited disclosure of the amount of the premium payable and the level of indemnification under the 
insurance contract. 
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n) Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 

No person has applied for Leave of the Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. The 
Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period. 
 

o) Company Strategy 

Odin Energy is currently focusing upon an aggressive exploration program for oil and gas on its current portfolio of project, with the 
objective of identifying and exploiting commercial resources. Odin is also continuing to consider and evaluate opportunity within the 
USA and other locations, for future potential acquisitions which may offer value enhancing opportunities for shareholders. 
Material business risks that may impact results of future operations include further exploration results, future commodity prices and 
funding 
 

p) Non-Audit Services 

No non-audit services were provided by the entity’s auditor, Somes Cooke or associated entities.   
 
Somes Cooke received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of audit: 

 audit and assurance services                  $  26,300  (2013: $30,000) 

 tax and other services                  $  Nil  (2013: Nil) 

 

q) Auditors Independence Declaration 

The Auditor’s Independence Declaration, as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, for the financial year ended 30 
June 2014 has been received and can be found on page 21. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

     
Alex Bajada       
Chairman        
West Perth, W.A. 
30 September 2014 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For The Year Ended 30 June 2014 

                              
 
  Group 

                      2014 2013 

 Notes A$ A$ 

Revenue from continuing operations  5 123,488 197,685 

Other income 5 114,086 839,406 

Accounting and audit expenses  (63,829) (30,500) 

Depletion expense  (41,043) (118,366) 

Staff/consultancy expenses  (364,795) (317,911) 

Legal expenses  - (316,742) 

Regulatory  expenses  (26,234) (13,155) 

Travel expenses  (28) (1,565) 

Impairment expenses 5 (894,389) (95,022) 

Other administrative expenses  (540,536) (1,168,702) 

Operating loss before income tax  (1,693,280) 
 

(1,024,872) 

Income tax expense 6 - - 

Loss attributed to owners of Odin Energy Ltd  (1,693,280) (1,024,872) 

Other Comprehensive Income for the year:    

Available for sale reserve  - (58,452) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  (6,587) (19,123) 

Other comprehensive Income for the year net of tax  (6,587) (77,575) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributed to owners 
of Odin Energy Ltd 

  
(1,699,867) 

 
(1,102,447) 

Loss per share from continuing operations attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Company: 

Basic loss per share/ Diluted loss per share (cents) 

 
 
 

18 

 
 
 

(0.83) 

 
 
 

(0.51) 

 
 
 
The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes to the financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2014 

 

  
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial 
statements. 
  

  
                       Group 

  
                   2014 2013 

 
Notes                       A$ A$ 

Assets 
 

 
 Current Assets 

 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,951 33,136 

Trade and other receivables 8 65,695 269,246 

Available for sale assets 10 80,355 556,110 

Total current assets 
 

149,001 858,492 

  
 

 Non-current Assets 
 

 
 Property, plant and equipment 9 3,601 5,531 

Oil & gas properties 12 673,934 765,925 

Other financial assets 13 83,333 331,035 

Total non-current assets 
 

760,868 1,102,491 

  
 

 Total assets 
 

909,869 1,960,983 

  
 

 Current liabilities 
 

 
 Trade and other payables 14 2,535,473 1,886,720 

Total current liabilities 
 

2,535,473 1,886,720 

  
 

 Total liabilities 
 

2,535,473 1,886,720 

  
 

 Net Assets(liability) 
 

(1,625,604) 74,263 

  
 

 Equity 
 

 
 Contributed Equity 15 14,745,209      14,745,209 

Reserves 16 (40,011) (33,424) 

Accumulated losses 17 (16,330,802) (14,637,522) 

Total Equity 
 

(1,625,604) 74,263 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2014 

   Group 

   2014 2013 

  Notes A$ A$ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

     

Receipt from customers  248,570 832,278 

Payments to suppliers & employees   (409,090) (1,427,907) 

Production costs  - (60,441) 
Interest received  - 159,406 

Net cash generated (used in) operating activities  19 (160,520) (496,664) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

     

Payment for property, plant and equipment  - (4,248) 

Payment for available for sale financial assets 
Proceeds from sale of available for sale financial assets 

 (10,189) 
115,449 

(161,901) 
- 

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities   105,260 (166,149) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

     

Loan from other entities  31,662 - 

Net cash generated from financing activities   31,662 - 

     

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents   (23,598) (662,813) 

     

Opening cash and cash equivalents  33,136 715,072 

Foreign exchange (loss)   (6,587) (19,123) 

Closing cash and cash equivalents  7 2,951 33,136 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

 

 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial 
statements 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Consolidated 

Year ended 
30 June 2014 
  
$ 

Contributed 
Equity 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve 

Foreign 
Exchange 
Reserve 

Option 
Reserve 

Available for 
Sale Reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

TOTAL 

Balance at 
beginning of period 

 
14,745,209 

 
- 

 
(33,424) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(14,637,522) 

 
74,263 

Loss for year  - - - - - (1,693,280) (1,693,280) 

Movement in 
Foreign Exchange 
Reserve  

- - (6,587) - - - (6,587) 

Total 
Comprehensive 
Income for the 
period 

- - (6,587) - - (1,693,280) (1,699,867) 

Expiry of Options - - - - - - - 

 
Balance at end of 
the year 

 
 

14,745,209 

 
 

- 

 
 

(40,011) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

(16,330,802) 

 
 

(1,625,604) 

Consolidated 

Year ended 
30 June 2013 
  
$ 

Contributed 
Equity 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve 

Foreign 
Exchange 
Reserve 

Option 
Reserve 

Available for 
Sale Reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

TOTAL 

Balance at 
beginning of period 

14,745,209 311,488 (14,301) 1,053,650 58,452 (14,977,788) 1,176,710 

Loss for year  - - - - - (1,024,872) 
 

(1,024,872) 

Movement in 
Foreign Exchange 
Reserve  

- - (19,123) - - - (19,123) 

Movement in 
Available for Sale 
Assets 

- - - - (58,452) - (58,452) 

Total 
Comprehensive 
Income for the 
period 

- - (19,123) - (58,452) (1,024,872) 
 

(1,102,447) 

Expiry of Options - (311,488) - (1,053,650) - 1,365,138 - 

 
Balance at end of 
the year 

 
 

14,745,209 

 
 

- 

 
 

(33,424) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

(14,637,522) 

 
 

74,263 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For The Year Ended 30 June 2014 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements represent the consolidated entity 
consisting of Odin Energy Limited (or ‘’the Company’’) and its subsidiaries (or ‘’the Group’’). 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation 
 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian 
Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

i) Going concern 
 
This report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the 
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.   
 
The Consolidated entity has incurred a net loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2014 of $1,693,280 (2013: loss $1,024,872) and 
experienced net cash outflows from operations of $160,520 (2013: $496,664). As at 30 June 2014, the consolidated entity had net 
liabilities of $1,625,604 (30 June 2013: net assets of $74,263). 
 

The Directors believe that there are sufficient funding strategies and alternatives to meet the Company’s working capital 

requirements and are confident the Company will be able to raise the required funds in the future. However, the Directors recognise 

that the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and to pay its debts as and when they fall due is dependent on the 

ability of the Company to secure additional funding through either the issue of further shares and/or options and convertible notes, or 

through asset sales, or through the conversion of a significant portion of liabilities into equity. 

 
The directors have reviewed the business outlook and are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is 
appropriate. As such, the directors believe that they will continue to be successful in securing additional funds through debt conversion, 
equity raisings or asset sales as and when the need to raise working capital arises. 
 

Notwithstanding this, there is still a level of uncertainty whether the Company will be able to continue as a going concern. 

 

Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities 

other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial report. 

 

The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts nor 

to the amounts and classification of liabilities that may be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 

ii) Compliance with IFRSs 
 
The consolidated entity financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   

 
iii) Early adoption of standards 
 

The Group has not elected to apply any early pronouncements.  
 
iv) Historical cost convention 
 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets. 
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(b) Principles of Consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Odin Energy Limited (“Company” or 
“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2014 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Odin Energy Limited and its subsidiaries 
together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity. 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity. 
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from the date 
that control ceases. 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the group (refer to note 1(z). 
 
Inter-Company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.  Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Odin Energy Limited, as adjusted by any 
necessary provision for diminution. 
 
(c) Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”), which has been identified by the Company as the board. 
 
(d) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, 
trade allowances and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  Revenue is recognised as follows: 
 

(i) Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.  When a receivable is impaired, the Group 
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest 
rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 

 
(ii) Oil and Gas revenue 
 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the costs 
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position. 

 
(e) Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less allowance for doubtful debts.  
Trade receivables are due for settlement between thirty (30) and ninety (90) days from the date of recognition. 
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income within “other expenses”. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against other expenses in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
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Recoverability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.  A 
provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.  The amount of the allowance 
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

(i) Plant and equipment 
 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated losses for impairment. 
  
(ii)  Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset which is estimated to vary between 5 and 
15 years. 

 
(iii) Impairment 
 

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. 

 
If any indication of impairment exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-
generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. 

 
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised separately in the profit or loss. 

 
Any item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the asset. 

 
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income in the year the item is 
derecognised. 

 
(g) Leases 
 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income. 
 
Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. 
 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
 
 
 
 



ODIN ENERGY LTD - Annual Report for year ended 30 June 2014 

29 
 

(h) Investments and other financial assets 
 
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each 
reporting date. 
 

(i) Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  
They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable.  They are 
included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the statement of financial position date which 
are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the statement of financial position (note 8). 
 

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally of marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated 
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 
dispose of the investment within twelve (12) months of the statement of financial position date. 

 
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell 
the asset.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value.  
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Gains or 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category, including interest and 
dividend income, are presented in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income within other income or other 
expenses in the period in which they arise. 

 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of 
the security.  The translation differences are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.  Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
When securities classified as available-for sale are impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income as gains and losses from 
investment securities. 

 
The Group assesses balances at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-
sale financial assets, the cumulative loss- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.  Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss on equity instruments 
classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through the profit or loss. 

 
(i) Investments in associates  
 
The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial 
statements. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence and that are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. 
 
The Group generally deems they have significant influence if they have Board positions and a substantial shareholding which is 
determined on a case by case situation but in the vicinity of 20% of the equity. 
 
Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate. After application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate. 
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The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any unsecured long-term 
receivables and loans, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the associate. 
 
The reporting dates of the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
 
Derecognition 
 
An investment in an associate is derecognised when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate. The carrying 
amount of the investment at the date that it ceases to be an associate is regarded as its cost on initial measurement as a financial 
asset. 
 
(j) Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 
 
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is either written off as incurred or accumulated in respect of each 
identifiable area of interest. Costs are only carried forward where rights to tenure are current, and to the extent that they are expected 
to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which 
permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the period in which the decision to abandon 
the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are transferred to oil & gas properties and 
amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation 
to that area of interest. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs necessitated by exploration and evaluation activities are expensed as incurred and 
treated as exploration and evaluation expenditure. 
 
(k) Oil and gas properties 
 
Following commencement of production activities all acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development expenditure in relation to an 
area of interest is accumulated into an oil and gas property. 
 
When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a property after the commencement of production, such expenditure is 
carried forward as part of the cost of that property only when substantial economic benefits are established, otherwise such 
expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. 
 
Amortisation of the cost of oil and gas properties is provided on the unit-of-production basis over the proved developed reserves of the 
field concerned with separate calculations being made for each resource. The unit-of-production basis results in an amortisation 
charge proportional to the depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. Amortisation is charged from the commencement of 
production. 
 
The net carrying value of each property is reviewed regularly for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. If the asset does not generate largely independent cash follows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. If such indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the 
estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount is the greater of fair-value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using the pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the assets. 
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(l) Fair Value estimation 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measured for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale 
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date.  The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example convertible notes) is determined using 
valuation techniques.  The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at 
each reporting date.  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. 
 
Other techniques such as estimated discounted cash flows are used to determine fair value for remaining financial instruments. 
 
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 
 
(m) Borrowing 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the statement of financial position date. 
 
(n) Trade and other payables 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year, which remain 
unpaid at year end. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition. They are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently at amortised cost. 
 
(o) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
(p) Employee benefits 
 

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 

 
(ii) Long service leave 
 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit 
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method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.  
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
(q) Share Based Payments 
 
The Group may at times provide benefits to employees (including Directors) and consultants of the Group in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). 
 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 
granted.  The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black & Scholes method. The valuation will take into 
consideration the current market conditions affecting the equity.  
 
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than those specified in the Terms and 
Conditions of the Convertible Preference Shares. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 
date’). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i)  the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest.  
This opinion is formed based on the best available information at reporting date.  No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market 
performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the 
original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 
 
(r) Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except if costs were incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset, 
where the costs are capitalised over the period that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
 
(s) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. 
 
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 
(t) Income Tax 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the statement of financial position date. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position date arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements and are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences: 
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i) Except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and 

 
ii) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 

ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses can be utilised: 
 

i) Except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss; and 

 
ii) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests and joint 

ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future extent that it is probable that the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 
utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of 
financial position date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised when it is probable that the future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses or that it is probable that the timing differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.  
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the profit or loss. 
 
Tax consolidation legislation 
 
Odin Energy Limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. This came 
into effect on the 25th September 2007. 
 
The head entity, Odin Energy Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a standalone 
taxpayer in its own right. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Odin Energy Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated 
group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from 
or payable to other entities in the Group. 
 
Any difference between amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a 
contribution to (or distribution from) wholly owned tax consolidated entities. 
 
(u) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except: 
 

i) Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authorities, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense item as applicable; 
and 

 
ii) Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
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The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 
 
(v) Contributed Equity 
  
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company.  Any transaction costs arising 
on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction, net of tax, of the share proceeds received. 
 
(w) Foreign currency translation 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Odin Energy Limited’s functional and presentation currency. The functional currency of the overseas subsidiary is 
US$. 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit and loss. 

 

(iii) Group companies 
 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 

 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
statement of financial position 
 

 income and expenses for each statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and 

 

 all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. 
 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and 
other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is 
sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences are 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entities and translated at the closing rate. 
 
(x) Earnings per share 
 

(i) Basic earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 
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(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(y) New accounting standards and interpretations 
 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have not 
been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014. These standards and 
interpretations would not have materially impacted on the figures or disclosure in these financial statements if they had been adopted 
early. 
 
(z) Business combinations 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair 
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest 
in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the 
measurement of all amounts have been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit and loss as a bargain purchase. 
 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value 
as at the date of exchange. The discounted rate used in the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  
 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, and other price 
risks, and aging analysis for credit risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors.  
 
(a) Market risk  
 

(i) Foreign exchange risk  
 

The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to the US dollar. This is limited to returns from the sale of assets.  Carrying amounts for Parent and Australian subsidiaries are 
in Australian dollars and for the US subsidiary are in US dollar so there is no day to day exposure to foreign exchange risk. 

 
(ii) Price Risk 

 
The Group is not materially exposed to price risk on its financial instruments. 
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(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk arises from both short and long-term bank deposits as well as from interest bearing loans to other entities. Deposits 
held at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Deposits held at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk. During 2014 and 2013, the Group deposits were held at variable rate. The interest bearing loans had fixed interest 
rates which limits the Group’s exposure to the timings of payments only. 

 
At 30 June 2014, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 10%, based on a 7 year average of rate fluctuations, from the year-end rates with 
all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been $11,408 lower/higher (2013: $15,940 lower/higher), mainly 
as a result of lower/higher interest income. 

 
(b) Credit risk 
 
The Group’s significant concentration of credit risk is with its loans to other entities and investments in convertible notes. Further credit 
risk relates to the credit rating of the Group’s Bank. The Group banks with the National Australia Bank which has an “AA” S&P Credit 
Rating.  
 
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither due nor impaired is desired by reference to historical credit behavior of each 
counter party. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the financial assets disclosed in the statement of financial position.  
 
(c) Liquidity risk 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of cash facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed cash facilities available or the establishment of 
credit facilities if required with a variety of counterparties. The Group has no material risk to liquidity risk at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 
2013. All payables are due within 60 days (2013: 60 days). 
 
(d) Fair value estimation 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation techniques. The Group 
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market 
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the reporting date. 
 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments and/or the inherent value of 
the financial assets where an active trading market exists (note 13). 
 
(e) Capital risk management 
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern. Where possible it seeks to 
optimise the use of longer term debt and to minimise additional equity capital, to avoid unnecessary shareholder dilution. Refer to note 
1(a) for further information on current working capital arrangements. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 

(i) Estimated impairment 
 

The Group tests annually whether oil and gas properties have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in note 1(k).  The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.  
These calculations require the use of assumptions.  Some of these assumptions may be amended in the future and this may lead to 
the subsequent impairment of the assets concerned.  
 
The main assumptions used are: 

 Longevity of tenure over the area of interest; 

 Future planned expenditure in the area of interest; and 

 Continued exploration in the area of interest. 

 

(ii) Fair Value of Securities 
 

- Convertible Preference Shares (“CPS”) 
 

The assessed fair value at grant date of CPS granted during the 2009 period was independently determined using a Black-Scholes 
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the CPS, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of 
dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the CPS, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

 
Since issue the estimated full value of CPS is amortised to the Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income with profit 
and loss by assuming the probability of conversion equal to the percentage production achieved.  Should conversion quotas not be 
achieved however, these amounts will be written back to the Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
No CPS were granted in 2014 (2013: Nil). 

 
(iii) Exploration expenditure 

 
Exploration and development expenditure that does not form part of the cash generating units assessed for impairment has been 
carried forward on the basis that exploration and evaluation activities have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in relation to the 
area are continuing.  In the event that significant operations cease and/or economically recoverable reserves are not assessed as 
being present, this expenditure will be expensed to the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
(iv) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Group operates (‘the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
 

(v)  Estimated recoverable amount of oil and gas properties 
 
Reserve estimates 
 
Estimates of recoverable quantities of proven, probable and possible reserves reported include judgemental assumptions regarding 
commodity prices, exchange rates, discount rates and production and transportation costs for future cash flows.  It also requires 
interpretation of complex and difficult geological and geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and 
quality of reservoirs, and their anticipated recoveries. The economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves may 
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change from period to period.  Changes in reported reserves can impact asset carrying values and the recognition of deferred tax 
assets due to changes in expected future cash flows.  Reserves are integral to the amount of amortisation charged to the statement of 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income. The Group uses suitably qualified persons to prepare a regularl evaluation of proven 
hydrocarbon reserves compliant with US professional standards for petroleum engineers. 
 
Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to period, and because additional geological data is 
generated during the course of operations, estimates of reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves 
may affect company’s financial results and financial position in a number of ways, including the following: 
 

 Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows. 
 Depreciation and amortisation charges in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income may change 

where such charges are determined by the units of production basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets change. 
 The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of tax benefits. 

 

4. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the Board of Directors that are used to make 
strategic decisions. The Board of Directors considers the business from a geographic perspective and have identified the below 
reportable segments: 
 

1) Revenue from continuing operations 

Segment revenue reconciles to total revenue from the continuing operations as follow: 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Total segment revenue 257,982 1,037,091 
Intersegment eliminations- intercompany loan interest (20,408) - 

Total revenue from continuing operations (Note 5) 237,574 1,037,091 

   
2) Segment results 

 
Segment result reconciles to total comprehensive income as follows: 

                    GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Total segment result (2,073,621) (1,024,872) 
Intersegment eliminations 380,341 - 

Total  comprehensive loss for the year (1,693,280) (1,024,872) 

 
 
 

  

Geographical 
segment 

2014(AU$) 2013(AU$) 

 
USA Australia Total USA Australia Total 

Revenue  123,488 134,495 257,982 197,685 839,406 1,037,091 

Segment result (loss) (103,030) (1,970,591) (2,073,621) (330,690) (694,152) (1,024,842) 

Depletion (41,043) - (41,043) (118,336) - (118,336) 

Total segment assets 347,662 739,084 1,086,746 309,950 2,086,199 2,396,149 

Acquisition of assets - - - - - - 

Total segment 
liabilities 

(1,291,890) (1,855,761) (3,147,652) (1,346,424) (739,775) (2,086,199) 
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3) Segment assets 
 

The amounts provided to the board with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial 
statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset. 
 
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows: 
                    GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Total segment assets 1,086,746 2,396,149 
Intersegment eliminations (176,877) (435,166) 

Total assets 909,869 1,960,983 

   
4) Segment liabilities 

 
The amounts provided to the board with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial 
statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset. 
 
 
Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total assets as follows: 
                      GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Total segment liabilities (3,147,652) (2,086,199) 
Intersegment eliminations 612,179 199,479 

Total liabilities  (2,535,473) (1,886,720) 

 
 

5. REVENUE AND EXPENSES 
 

 GROUP 
Revenue 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
i) Interest – Other financial assets 114,086 159,406 

ii) Settlement of Legal Dispute - 680,000 

v) Oil and gas revenue 123,488 197,685 

Total Revenue 237,574 1,037,091 

   
Expenses   
Impairment expense: 894,389 95,022 
   
Impairment expense comprises:   
   
Impairment of other financial assets  247,702 - 
Impairment of oil and gas assets 11,335 - 
Impairment of available for sale financial assets 370,495 95,022 
Impairment of trade and other receivables 232,063 - 
Other impairment 32,794 - 

  - 
Total Impairment of assets 894,389 95,022 
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6. INCOME TAX 
 
Income tax recognised in profit or loss 

 Group 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Tax expense/(income) comprises:   
Current tax expense/(income) in respect of the current year - - 
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination  
and reversal of temporary differences - - 

Total tax expense/(income) - - 
 
The prima facie income tax expense/(income) on pre-tax accounting loss from operations reconciles to the income tax 
expense/(income) in the financial statements as follows: 
 Group 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Loss before tax  (1,693,280) (1,024,872) 

Income tax expense/(income) calculated at 30% (2013:30%) (507,984) (307,462) 
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 273,394 111,315 
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets 234,590 196,147 
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions - - 
Other - - 

 - - 

   
The tax rate used for the 2014 and 2013 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities 
on taxable profits under Australian tax law.  
 
Unrecognised deferred tax balances 
 Group 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and un-recognised:   
Tax losses:   
Tax losses – revenue 5,049,440 4,814,850 
Temporary differences:   
Write down of investments - 914,261 
Other 6,923 63,000 

Un-recognised deferred tax assets 5,056,363 5,792,111 

   
Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable that immediate future profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.  
 
Tax consolidation legislation is discussed in Note 1. 
 

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 GROUP 
 2014  

$ 
2013 

$ 

Cash at bank  2,951 33,136 
Term deposit at bank* - - 

 2,951 33,136 

 
 
Cash at bank earned a floating rate of interest of between 0% and 3.2%(2013: between 0.0% and 3.2%). 
 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the 
carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above. 
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

                        GROUP 

 2014 
$ 

         2013 
         $ 

Current   

Trade receivables 64,101 138,239 

 64,101 138,239 

   

Other   

Related party receivables - 90,000 

Prepayments and other  1,594 41,007 

 1,594 131,007 

 65,695 269,246 

 
Other receivables 
 
These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Interest may be charged at 
commercial rates where the terms of the repayment exceed six months. Collateral is not normally obtained.  
 
Fair value and credit risk 
 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amounts are assumed to approximate their fair value. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above. Refer 
to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group. 
 

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Plant and equipment – cost 18,843 19,385 
Less accumulated depreciation (15,242) (13,854) 

 3,601 5,531 
   
Computer Equipment – cost 6,864 6,864 
Less accumulated depreciation (6,864) (6,864) 

 - - 
   
Other Tangible Properties – cost 304,896 304,896 
Less accumulated depreciation (304,896) (304,896) 

 - - 
   

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 3,601 5,531 

   
   
 
Movements in carrying amounts of plant and equipment are reconciled as 
follows: 

  

Balance at the beginning of period 5,531 7,003 
Additions - 4,248 
Foreign exchange adjustments 2 - 
Depreciation expense (1,932)           (5,720) 

 3,601 5,531 

 
 
 



ODIN ENERGY LTD - Annual Report for year ended 30 June 2014 

42 
 

10. AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 GROUP 

             2014 
        $ 

          2013 
         $ 

   

Listed Securities   

Equity securities 80,355     556,110 

 80,355      556,110 

Investments in related parties: 
 

Refer to note 20 for information on the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. 
 

All available for sale assets are denominated in Australian currency. For an analysis of the sensitivity of available for sale financial 
assets to price and interest rate risk refer to note 2. 
 

11. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
During the year there were no share based payment issued (2013:Nil). 

 
 

12. OIL & GAS PROPERTIES 
 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

   
Oil & gas development 673,934 765,925 

   
Movements in carrying amounts are reconciled as follows:   
   
Balance at the beginning of period 765,925 823,850 
Additions  - 60,441 
Depletion (41,043) (118,366) 
Foreign exchange (39,613) - 
Impairment expense (11,335) - 

 673,934 765,925 

 

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Non-Current –convertible notes (i) 83,333 331,035 
Reconciled follow:   
Balance at the beginning of period 331,035 331,035 
Impairment of convertible notes (247,702) - 

 83,333 331,035 

Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value.  
 
(i) Convertible notes in Advance Energy Limited. Subsequent to year end, the notes were converted into ordinary shares in Advance 
Energy Limited. The balance at year end comprises cost of $1,600,000, less accumulated impairment of $1,516,667. 
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14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

                       GROUP 
                   2014 

                 $ 
             2013 

             $ 

   
Trade creditors (i) 2,495,473 1,864,563 
Accruals 40,000 22,157 

 2,535,473           1,886,720 

 
(i) Of this amount at year end, $1,363,503 is owing to directors and their related parties, and $770,000 relates to the Apache Case 
(Note 26). 
 

15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 
Movement in ordinary fully paid shares on issue 
 

  2014 2013 

 Date Number of 
shares 

$ Number of 
shares 

$ 

Opening balance  203,360,037   14,745,209 203,360,037   14,745,209 
Rights issue  - - - - 
Share purchase plan  - - - - 
Transaction costs on share issues  - - - - 

Closing balance  203,360,037 14,745,209 203,360,037 14,745,209 

 

 Effective 1 July 1998 the Corporations Legislation in place abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value of 
shares.  Accordingly the Parent does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of issued shares. 

 

 Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the number of 
shares held. 

 

 At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one 
vote on a show of hands. 

 
Options  
 
No options have been issued or exercised in 2014 and 2013.  
   
Converting Preference Shares 
 
All convertible preference shares were issued during the period ended 30 June 2007. 
The movements in Converting Preference Shares during the period were as follows: 
 
2014 

Class No. at beginning 
of year 

 

Issued 
 

Converted 
into ordinary shares 

 

No. at end of 
year 

 
CPS - A 
CPS - B 
CPS - C 
CPS - D 

- 
- 

3,500 
3,500 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

3,500 
3,500 

 7,000 - - 7,000 
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2013 
 

Class No. at beginning 
of year 

 

Issued 
 

Converted 
into ordinary shares 

 

No. at end of 
year 

 
CPS - A 
CPS - B 
CPS - C 
CPS - D 

- 
- 

3,500 
3,500 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

3,500 
3,500 

 7,000 - - 7,000 

 
Each Converting Preference Share (CPS) converts into 1,000 ordinary shares as follows: 
CPS-A – upon the Company’s shares being listed on the main Board of the ASX; these were converted into ordinary shares on date of 
listing, being 5 September 2007. 
CPS-B – upon completion of the first well in which the Company participates. 
CPS-C – upon the Company proving up reserves of 2 Bcfe. 
CPS-D – upon the Company proving up reserves of 4 Bcfe. 
 
 
 
 

16. RESERVES 

There were no options issued during the year.  
 

 

 
Nature and purpose of reserves 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Option reserve (i) - - 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Available for sale reserve (ii) - - 

Available for sale reserve   

Opening balance - 58,452 
Fair value adjustment of assets during period - (58,452) 

 - - 

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Share based payment reserve  - - 

 
There were no share based payments during the year. 
 

  

 GROUP 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

 
Foreign exchange reserve (iii) (40,011) (33,424) 

 
 

  

Foreign exchange reserve   
Opening balance (33,424) (14,301) 
Movement during the year (6,587) (19,123) 

 (40,011) (33,424) 

Total Reserves (40,011) (33,424) 
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(i) Available for sale reserve  
                                        
The available for sale reserve represents the adjustment of the fair value of assets available for sale during the period. 
 
 (ii) Foreign exchange reserve 
 
Exchange difference arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity is taken to the foreign currency translation reserve as 
described in note 1. The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed of.  
 
 

17. ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
 GROUP 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year 
Release of option and share based payment reserve 

(14,637,522) 
- 

(14,977,788) 
1,365,138 

Net loss attributable to the members of the parent entity (1,693,280)   (1,024,872) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (16,330,802) (14,637,522) 

 

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
         GROUP 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Reconciliation of earnings to net loss    
Net loss (1,693,280)     (1,024,872) 

Earnings/(loss) used in the calculation of basic and dilutive EPS (1,693,280) (1,024,872) 

 
 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period 
used in calculation of basic and dilutive EPS 

 
Number 

203,360,037 
(0.83) 

 
Number 

203,360,037 
(0.51) 

 
Details of the shares issued are included under note 15. Dilutive EPS is not reflected as it would result in the reduction of the loss per 
share.  
 

19. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with loss from continuing operations after income tax 
 GROUP 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Loss after income tax (1,693,280) (1,024,872) 
Non cash flows in loss for the year   

Gain on transfers of related party loans   
Depreciation and depletion  42,975 124,086 
Impairment 894,389 95,022 
Foreign exchange  (6,587)  
Interest  (114,086) - 
Changes in assets and liabilities   
Increase in trade creditors and accruals 512,718 455,955 
(Increase)/decrease  in trade and other receivables 203,351 (45,407) 
(Increase) in oil and gas properties - (60,441) 
(Increase ) in prepayments - (41,007) 

Cash flows from (used in) operations (160,520) (496,664) 

   
Non-cash investing activity: During the year, the Company received shares in Advance Energy Limited in lieu of  

interest receivable on the convertible notes of $114,086 (Note 5). 
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20. SUBSIDIARIES 
 
The Company has the following Subsidiaries:  
 
Name of Subsidiary Place of Incorporation Percentage held  

Glory Run Pty Ltd   Perth WA 100% (2013:100%) 
Kilgore Exploration Inc Texas USA 100% (2013:100%) 
Jet Strike Pty Ltd   Perth WA 100% (2013:100%) 
 
 

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Details of remuneration accrued during the year to Directors or their related entities, are as follows: 
 

 
Specified Director/Officer 

 
Transaction 

 
Note 

30 June 
2014 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

 
Alex Bajada 

 
Consulting fees 

 
(i) 

 
120,000 

 
150,000 

Roland Berzins Consulting fees (ii) 20,000 20,000 
Anthony Short Consulting fees (iii) 120,000 90,000 

 

(i) The Company used the management consulting services of Spartan Nominees Pty Ltd, a Company of which Mr Alex Bajada 
is a director. 

(ii) The Company used the consulting services of Mr Roland Berzins. 
(iii) The Company used the consultancy services of Cumberland Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr Anthony Short is a director. Mr 

Short is also director of Kilgore Exploration Inc. 
 
The amounts above constitute the shirt-term benefits as disclosed in Note 21 and the Remuneration Report in the Directors Report. 
 
In addition, the following related party transactions occurred during the year: 
 
During the year to 30 June 2014, expenses of $335,522 were incurred by the Group for services rendered by AAG Management Pty 
Ltd (‘’AAG’’); and 
During the year to 30 June 2014, expenses of $101,750 were incurred by the Group for corporate advisory services rendered by GCP 
Capital Limited (‘’GCP’’). 
 
AAG is a management company which provides facilities (which includes rent, telephone and company secretarial), human resources, 
and other administration and consulting services. AAG is a related party because Anthony Short, a non executive director of Odin 
Energy Ltd was the sole director during the year. In January 2013, AAG was acquired by Mr Short.  Anthony Short and Alex Bajada are 
directors of GCP. 
 

22. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Key management personnel remuneration: 
 

  30 June 2014 
$ 

30 June 2013 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits  260,000 262,500 
Bonus  - - 
Post employment benefits  - - 
Equity performance related  - - 

  260,000 262,500 

 

Refer to the Remuneration Report in the Directors Report for information of the Share and Converting Preference Shares held by the 
Key Management Personnel during the year. 
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23. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  
 GROUP 

 
 
 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Amounts received or due and receivable by Somes Cooke 26,300      30,000 
   

24. COMMITMENTS 
 
There are no commitments (2013: Nil) 
 

25. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
 
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a 
material or unusual nature, likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect significantly the operations or the state of affairs of the group 
in future financial years, other than the August announcements in respect of the binding heads of agreement with TV2U Pty Ltd 
(“TV2U”), and the appointment of SilikonRok Pty Ltd as its technical advisor in regard to this potential transaction. TV2U’s technologies 
enable telecommunication companies and network operators to increase profitability by generating revenue through the delivery of live 
and video on demand content to multiple consumer devices over multiple networks, on a global scale. 
 

26. CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company’s subsidiary, Kilgore Exploration Inc, is currently disputing approximately $770,000 in joint interest billings, legal fees and 
interests from Apache Corporation. As at 30 June 2014 and the date of this report, the outcome of the appeals process is not determinable 
and all estimated costs have been included in these financial statements. If successful in its appeal Kilgore Exploration Inc will, in addition to 
the cash settlement, write back all liabilities in respect of this matter which are currently reflected in the consolidated accounts. 
 

27. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 
 
The ultimate holding Company of the group, Odin Energy Ltd (the “Parent”) has not been reported in these financial statements other than the 
following, pursuant to changes to the corporation act 2001; 
 

 Parent Entity 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Current Assets 24,427 199,446 
Non Current Assets 534,463 1,240,274 

Total Assets 558,890 1,439,720 

Current Liabilities 1,817,231 1,103,907 
Non Current Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities 1,817,231 1,103,907 

Issued Capital 14,745,209 14,745,209 
Accumulated Losses (16,003,551) (14,409,396) 
Reserves - - 

Total Equity (1,258,341) 335,813 

Loss for the Year (1,594,155) (655,268) 
Total Comprehensive loss for the year (1,594,155) (655,268) 

 
As at the reporting date the parent does not have any commitments or contingencies.  
 
 

28. DIVIDENDS 
 
There were no dividends paid or payable in respect of the current or previous financial period. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 
The directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1) The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 21 to 47, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and 

 
b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of the performance for the year ended on that date of the 

company and Group; 
 

2) In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable. 

 

3) The financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board 

 

4) The directors have been given the declaration by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporation Act 2001. 

 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 

      
 
 

Alex Bajada        
Chairman        

 
West Perth, Western Australia 
30 September 2014 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 
 

 
 

Distribution schedule of the number of holders in each class of equity security. 
 

Range  Holders Units Percentage 

1 - 1,000  26 2,551 0.001% 
1,001 - 5,000  7 22,600 0.011% 
5,001 - 10,000  66 563,314 0.277% 
10,001 - 100,000  272 11,402,058 5.607% 
> 100,000  166 191,369,511 94.104% 

Total  537 203,360,034 100.00% 

 
 

Rank Name Units % of Units 

1 
HALLCREST INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SHORT SUPER 
FUND A/C> 

16,500,000 8.11 

2 
SPARTAN NOMINEES PTY LTD <SPARTAN NOMINEES 
SUPER FUND> and <SPARTAN SUPER FUND A/C> 

12,500,000 6.15 

3 CASA DOLCE PTY LTD <TODD RAPLEY FAMILY A/C> 10,000,000 4.92 

4 BEACHCRAFT PTY LTD 9,128,000 4.49 

5 NEFCO NOMINEES PTY LTD 7,895,977 3.88 

6 
GOLDBONDSUPER PTY LTD <GOLDBOND SUPERFUND 
A/C> 

6,600,000 3.25 

7 NEWMEK INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 6,000,000 2.95 
8 MR TREVOR NEIL HAY 5,860,000 2.88 
9 FAY HOLDINGS PTY LTD 5,000,000 2.46 

10 
 

MR JEFFREY HOWARD LATIMER + MRS JUDITH ANN 
LATIMER <LATIMER S/F A/C> 

5,000,000 2.46 

11 MR CHARLES CRUMLISH 3,663,667 1.80 
12 CLOUDAY PTY LTD <SMITH SUPER FUND A/C> 3,000,000 1.48 
13 ANDREW DIMSEY 3,000,000 1.48 
14 MR JOHN THOMAS GAHAN 2,884,338 1.42 

15 
MR PAUL BALSARINI + MRS ANNETTE BALSARINI <A & K 
MERC P/L PROVIDENT A/C> 

2,800,000 1.38 

16 MR SIMON WILLIAM TRITTON 2,580,000 1.27 
17 RUSSO HOLDINGS (AUST)PTY LTD 2,400,000 1.18 
18 PURE DAWN PTY LTD 2,099,675 1.03 
19 CBZ (WA) PTY LTD 2,000,000 0.98 
20 EIZUS HOLDINGS PTY LTD 2,000,000 0.98 

   

Totals: Top 20 holders of ODN ORDINARY FULLY PAID 110,911,657 54.54 
Total Remaining Holders Balance 92,448,377 45.46 
Total Holders Balance 203,360,034 100 
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A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
A statement disclosing the extent to which the Company has followed the best practice recommendations set by the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council during the reporting period is previously contained in this document in the Corporate 
Governance section at page 3. 
 
B. SHAREHOLDING 
 

1. Substantial Shareholders 
 
The following substantial Shareholders were listed on the Company’s register as at 28 October 2013: 
 

Shareholder Number of Shares Percentage 

HALLCREST INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SHORT SUPER FUND A/C> 16,500,000 8.11% 

SPARTAN NOMINEES PTY LTD <SPARTAN NOMINEES SUPER 
FUND> and <SPARTAN SUPER FUND A/C> 

12,500,000 6.15% 

 

2. Unquoted Securities 

 

Names of persons holding greater than 20% of a class of unquoted securities: 
 
 

Holder Class of Equity 
Security 

Number of Shares PERCENTAGE 

Formaine Pty Ltd Convertible preference 
shares 

1,750 25.00% 

Spartan Nominees Pty 
Ltd 

Convertible preference 
shares 

1,750 25.00% 

Fay Holdings Pty Ltd Convertible preference 
shares 

1,750 25.00% 

    

 
By Class Holders of Convertible Preference 

Shares 
Number of 
Convertible 

Preference Shares 

% 

1 – 1,000 3 1,750 25.00 
1,001 - 5,000 3 5,250 75.00 
5,001 – 10,000 - - - 
10,001 – 100,000 - - - 
100,001 and over - - - 

Totals 6 7,000 100.00 

 

3. Number of holders in each class of equity securities and the voting rights attached. 
 
There are 537 holders of ordinary shares. Each shareholder is entitled to one vote per share held. On a show of hands every 
shareholder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is 
entitled to one vote. 
 
There are 6 holders of convertible preference shares. There are no voting rights attached to these convertible preference 
shares. 
 
 

4. Marketable parcel 
 
There are 451 Shareholders with less than a marketable parcel as at 17TH October 2014. 
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C. OTHER DETAILS 
 

1. Company Secretary 
 

Roland Berzins 

 
2. Address and telephone details of the entity’s registered and administrative office 
 

The address and telephone details of the registered and administrative office: 
 
 Suite 4 
 16 Ord Street 
 WEST PERTH Western Australia 6005 
 
 Telephone: +(61) 08 9429 2900 
 Facsimile:  +(61)  08 9486 1011 

 
3. Address and telephone details of the office at which a register of securities is kept 
 

The address and telephone number of the office at which a registry of securities is kept: 
 
 Advanced Share Registry Services 
 110 Stirling Highway 
 NEDLANDS  Western Australia  6009 
 
 Telephone: +(61) 08 9389 8033 
 Facsimile:  +(61) 08 9262 3723 

 
4. Stock exchange on which the Company’s securities are quoted 
 
              The Company’s listed equity securities are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange.  

 
5. Restricted Securities 
 
              The Company has no restricted securities. 

 
6. Review of operations 
 

A review of operations is included in the Directors’ Report. 

 
7. Tenement listing 
 
 Galveston–307 L project (Texas State Waters, US) 
 

Lease identification Working interest share Net revenue Interest 
share 

Generic name 

    

M - 105723 11.25% 8.71875% Sandpiper 

M – 105724 11.25% 8.71875% Snipe 

M - 109560 11.25% 9.00000% Egret 
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